IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN S. HUGGINS,)
)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Appellee.)
_____)

CASE NUMBER SC02-2364

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(386) 252-3367
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises twenty-eight consecutively numbered volumes. Counsel will refer to each volume using a Roman numeral followed by the appropriate page numbers. There is one volume of supplemental record which will be referred to as (SR).

Additionally, this Court granted Appellant's motion to utilize the record on appeal prepared for *State v. Huggins*, 788 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2001). That record includes six consecutively numbered volumes of the record and thirteen consecutively numbered volumes of supplemental record. Counsel will refer to this record using the symbols (RA) and (SRA) with the appropriate volume and page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 1998, the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, spring term grand jury returned a four count indictment charging John Steven Huggins, the appellant, with the premeditated first-degree murder¹ of Carla Larson, carjacking,² robbery,³ and kidnaping.⁴ (XII 468-70) The appellant was originally convicted of first-degree murder, carjacking, kidnaping and robbery and sentenced to death following a 1999 trial in Jacksonville following a change of venue. The trial court subsequently granted appellant's motion for a new trial and vacated the death sentence based on the trial court's findings that the State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence contrary to *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The State of Florida appealed the trial court's order. On June 7, 2001, this Court affirmed the trial court's action in vacating appellant's convictions and sentences and ordering a new trial. *State v. Huggins*, 788 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2001). On remand, appellant waived any conflict with the representation by the Office of the Public Defender, Ninth Judicial Circuit. (XII 472) Appellant elected Osceola

¹ In violation of Sections 782.04 and 775.087, Florida Statutes.

² In violation of Sections 812.133(1) and 812.133(2)(b), Florida Statutes.

³ In violation of Section 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes.

⁴ In violation of Section 787.01(1)(a)(2), Florida Statutes.

County as the proper venue. (XII 475-76, 486)

Appellant filed a total of four unsuccessful motions to disqualify Jeff Ashton, the assistant state attorney. These were based on Ashton's prior conduct of failing to disclose exculpatory evidence; losing potential impeachment evidence; failure to fully comply with discovery; and the use of perjured testimony. (I 44; XII 480-81, 488, 513-15, 527-28, 568-70, 635) Appellant also filed a motion to compel the state to identify and exclude any new evidence developed since the 1999 trial. (XII 498-99, 527-28, 581-86, 620-21) Appellant also filed an unsuccessful motion to dismiss the indictment based on double jeopardy and due process grounds where the misconduct of the state resulted in a new trial. (XII 571-73, 636-37) The trial court also denied appellant's motion to dismiss. (XII 636-37)

Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions relating to the United States Supreme decision in *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). These included a motion to dismiss the indictment and request for specific jury findings as to penalty issues (XII 545-47, 565-67); a motion for statement of particulars as to aggravating circumstances and theory of prosecution (XII 591-96); a motion to bar imposition of the death sentence based on the unconstitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing procedure (XIII 777-840; XIV 865-78); specific objections to the court's proposed dialogue with respect to the jurors, to death qualification of the

jury, and general objections to instructions and procedures (XIV 846-59); a motion to bar death as a possible sentence based on double jeopardy grounds, i.e., the first jury in Jacksonville impliedly “acquitted” appellant of death since only nine jurors voted for death (XIV 860-62, 864) and objections to the trial court’s penalty phase instructions (XIV 1013-22).

After an aborted attempt to pick a jury in Osceola County, Florida, the trial court dismissed the venire due to the taint of pretrial publicity. (XVI 1-XVIII 415; XIII 705-16) By stipulation, venue was changed to Hillsborough County, Florida. (XIII 716, 760)

Prior to trial, appellant filed a notice of intent to use similar fact evidence, specifically “reverse *Williams*⁵ Rule evidence” that Calvin Rewis was the actual murderer of Carla Larson. (XIII 722-59) The state responded with a motion in limine. (XIII 769-71) The trial court ultimately excluded the evidence which was subsequently proffered for the record. (XIV 937-82)

The subsequent trial in Hillsborough County resulted in the jury finding the appellant guilty of murder in the first-degree, carjacking, and kidnaping, all as charged in the indictment. The jury found appellant guilty of the lesser included

⁵ *Williams v. State*, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

offense of petit theft, thereby acquitting him of robbery. (XIV 1003-6)

At the penalty phase, appellant insisted on representing himself with the Office of the Public Defender acting as stand-by counsel. The trial court conducted an inquiry pursuant to *Faretta v. California*⁶. (XXVII 716-37)

Following the penalty phase, the jury returned a verdict recommending, by a nine to three majority, that John Huggins should be sentenced to death. (XIV 1023) The jury filled in the interrogatory verdict forms provided by the trial court. They concluded unanimously that the murder was committed while Huggins was felony probation; that Huggins had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person; that the murder was committed while Huggins was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnaping; that the crime was committed for financial gain; that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, and there was no valid mitigation. (XIV 1024-26)

The trial court adjudicated appellant guilty. (XIV 1027; XXVIII 1904) Following a *Spencer*⁷ hearing (X340-432), the trial court sentenced John Huggins to death for the murder of Carla Larson. The court found no statutory mitigation factors, numerous non-statutory mitigation factors, and five aggravating

⁶ *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

⁷ *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

circumstances. (XI 433-67; XV 1172-89)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Innocence/Guilt Phase

In June of 1997, Carla Larson was an engineer at Centex-Rooney, a large construction company. She was married to Jim Larson. The couple had a one-year-old daughter named Jessica. (XXII, 839-41) On June 10, 1997, the couple left for work separately. (XXIII 842) Carla Larson drove a white Ford Explorer which sported a Passport radar detector.⁸ (XXIII, 842-45)

Carla Larson was working on the Coronado Springs Resort project near Walt Disney World. Carla told the office manager that she planned to pick up some food at lunch for an afternoon meeting. The office manager told Larson that a nearby Publix had recently opened saving her the longer trek to Goodings. She gave Larson directions to the Publix which was located on the corner of 192 and International Drive right off the Osceola Parkway. Larson left the job site shortly after noon and headed in the direction of Publix. (XXIII 854-58, 885-87) Records indicate she made a purchase at that Publix at about 12:15 p.m. that day. (XXIII 883; State's Exhibits 10 and 11)

At approximately, 12:30 to 12:45 p.m., members of a landscaping crew were

⁸ The radar detector was "hard-wired" for the vehicle.

eating lunch by a lake in the woods off of Osceola Parkway. O'Hearn, the crew's foreman, noticed a white Ford Explorer driving down a dirt road approximately 150 feet away. The sole occupant appeared to be a man. O'Hearn could not determine the individual's race, hair details, or any other description. (XXII, 810-18)

Four Centex-Rooney construction workers were returning from lunch in Kissimmee that day. As they drove on Osceola Parkway, they noticed a white Ford Explorer driving out of the woods at a relatively high rate of speed. (XXII 783-88) None of the men could identify John Huggins as the sole occupant. In fact, one of the men saw Huggins on television following his arrest and described him as heavier and more pale than the person he had seen. (XXIII 806)

Christopher Smithson,⁹ an employee of a subcontractor at the Coronado Springs project, left work that day sometime between 2:30 and 3:30p.m. As he headed east on Osceola Parkway, Smithson spotted a white Ford Explorer coming out of the woods at a rate of approximately twenty miles an hour. At trial, Smithson identified John Huggins as the driver of that SUV.¹⁰ (XXIII, 911-18)

⁹ The state did not present Smithson's testimony until the second trial.

¹⁰ Smithson first recognized the driver after Huggins was arrested and was featured on television. (XXIII, 917-18) Smithson said he called authorities but never received a follow-up interview prior to the first trial. (XXIII, 918) The Osceola Sheriff's Office had no record of any call from Smithson in June 10, 1997 through June 17, 1997. (XXV 1411-16)

Charlotte Green,¹¹ a resident of Melbourne, heard about Carla Larson's murder. Sometime later, she saw the appellant¹² driving a white SUV that she believed matched the description of Larson's missing vehicle. Green was headed back to Melbourne on the interstate when Huggins passed her before exiting. Green noticed that the back of the vehicle had been spray painted black which she found highly unusual.¹³ (XXIII 991-94)

Two of Larson's co-workers found her body on June 12, 1997 in a wooded area off Osceola Parkway. Her nude body was located behind a palmetto bush and covered with debris and a towel. (XXIII 887-93, 1148) Dr. Shashi Gore, chief medical examiner for the Ninth Judicial Circuit, responded to the scene. (XXIV 1143-46) Dr. Gore concluded that the body had been lying there for two to three days. (XXIV 1147-48) Dr. Gore opined that Carla Larson died from asphyxiation due to severe neck injury and strangulation. (XXIV 1148-49, 1160) More than six months later Larson's purse and wallet were found in the median of the off

¹¹ Like Smithson, Green did not testify at the first trial. (XXIV 1011-12)

¹² Although Green did not know Huggins, she claimed that she later recognized him as the man in traffic, when she saw his arrest featured in the media. (XXIV 1000)

¹³ A couple of days later Green noticed the same vehicle parked near a fishing spot. Later that day she saw it was a burned-out hulk. (XXIII 995-996; XXIV 1001, 1006-8)

ramp that led from Osceola Parkway to World Drive. (XXIII 895-99) Although the purse had obviously been there for some time, there was no way to determine exactly how long. (XXIII 905) Approximately seven feet from where Carla Larson's purse was found, police seized a bottle with a local prescription filled on November 11, 1997 for a person named Donaway. (XXIV, 1095-97)

John Huggins was on a family trip to the area in June of 1997. (XXV 1263-68) They visited Gatorland and Disney World. John and his wife, Angel Huggins, stayed at a hotel with a gaggle of children and relatives. (XXIII 882, 969-82; State's Exhibit 14) When the group subsequently left the area to return to Angel's home in Melbourne, John Huggins did not accompany them. (XXIII 934-90)

On Friday, June 12, 1997, Kevin Smith, a friend of John Huggins, agreed to let Huggins park a white sports utility vehicle at his house for a few days. Kevin noticed the truck contained a hard-wired radar detector. Huggins told Smith that he had rented the vehicle. (XXV 1270-78) After Huggins picked up the truck a couple of days later, Smith found a radar detector hidden in a box on top of his outside hot water heater. (XXV 1284-97)

On the evening of June 26, 1997 the police received a call that a truck was burning on a vacant lot near Kevin Smith's house . An investigation revealed that the burned-out vehicle was Carla Larson's Ford Explorer. An arson investigator

concluded that the fire had been set intentionally. (XXIV 1110-13; XXV 1204-18, 1320-24) The investigation also indicated that the truck had been painted black in an unprofessional manner.

In June, 1997, Angel Huggins, appellant's wife, was living with her mother, Fay Blades in Melbourne, Florida. (XXV 1340-42) On June 10, 1997, Fay Blades arrived at her house after work and noticed a white sports utility vehicle parked in the carport. She had never seen the vehicle before that date and she never saw it again.¹⁴ When she walked into the house, appellant's son Jonathan was visiting her house. (XXV 1343-47) John Huggins was not present. (XXV 1355)

On July 8, 1997, six detectives from the Orange County Sheriff's office searched the home of Fay Blades, John Huggins' mother-in-law, and a shed behind the house. (XXIV 1031-32) During two trips the detectives found nothing of evidentiary value even though they used an X-ray machine.¹⁵

Despite the fact that the police had searched the premises thoroughly, Fay Blades decided to conduct her own search. While doing some wash in the shed, she noticed a screwdriver sitting out on top of the box. This prompted her to

¹⁴ Several neighbors also noticed the sudden appearance of the vehicle in the neighborhood. (XXV 1225-40)

¹⁵ The searches of the small shed were fairly exhaustive.

unscrew the electrical outlet cover just inside the shed door. Inside, she found some jewelry wrapped in a paper towel.¹⁶ The jewelry belonged to Carla Larson. (XXIII 842-45, 850-51; XXV 1347-49, 1353-54, 1375-78) Blades turned the jewelry over to the authorities. A test for latent fingerprints on the tissue paper as well as the electrical outlet failed to incriminate John Huggins. (XXIV 1037, 1040-46)

On July 25, 1997, Steve Olson, a broadcast news reporter for WFTV Channel 9, conducted a videotaped interview of the appellant in the Seminole County Jail. (XXV 1261-62) During the interview, appellant admitted to being in the vicinity with his wife and children. He said that he did not think that he killed Carla Larson but admitted suffering blackouts which were recently exacerbated by taking medication and alcohol. Huggins expressed sympathy for Jim Larson, explaining that he had also recently lost a wife. (XXV 1263-68)

On May 12, 1998, Norm Henderson, a crime scene investigator with the Orange County Sheriff's office, traveled to the Orange County Jail to obtain appellant's hair samples pursuant to a court order. (XXV 1246-48) While Henderson observed, Dr. Blakely attempted to obtain pubic hair samples from the appellant. They discovered that the appellant's pubic region was completely

¹⁶ Blades found the evidence in the first place she looked despite prior exhaustive searches by police. Police explained that the detective assigned that area was afraid of electricity. (XXIV 1180-93)

shaven.¹⁷ (XXIV 1471-72; XXV 1248-50) Henderson did obtain head hairs from Huggins. (XXV 1252-53)

A forensic scientist examined 114 human hairs and 86 animal hairs that had been collected from the blue towel covering the victim's upper torso. (XXVI 1500-8) These hairs were compared to known standards from Carla Larson and John Huggins. (XXVI 1508-13) None of the samples recovered from the blanket could have come from John Huggins. (XXVI 1513-19) Mitochondrial DNA analysis on some of the 286 unknown hairs found on the towel and from the victim's pubic combings indicated that all were **inconsistent** with the hair of John Huggins. (XXVI 1514-19, 1526-30) A second forensic scientist concluded that four sample question hairs could not be excluded as belonging to Carla Larson. (XXVI 1530-46) However, both John Huggins and Jim Larson could definitely be excluded as contributors of any of the four questioned hairs. (XXVI 1546)

The state and the appellant entered into a stipulation regarding certain DNA results. Biological samples were obtained from the gold necklace, the diamond ring,

¹⁷ Huggins was housed at the Orange County Jail Annex, a very antiquated facility without air conditioning. It has since been closed. (XXV 1254-55, XXVI 1462-65) The facility was frequently infested with crab lice which normally afflict the pubic area. (XXVI 1465-68) Although medication and shampoo were provided, many inmates would also shave their hair especially in the pubic area. (XXVI 1465-71)

a pair of earrings, vaginal swabs, two slides and a blood sample from Carla Larson and eight cigarette butts from John Huggins. These were submitted to a lab where DNA was isolated and analyzed. Insufficient DNA was isolated from the jewelry. However, the DNA profile from the sperm extraction from the vaginal swabs was consistent with the DNA profile obtained from Jim Larson, the victim's husband. Jim Larson could not be excluded as a source of the genetic material, whereas John Huggins and Carla Larson could be excluded as possible contributors, assuming a single donor. (XIV 914-15; XXVI 1548-50)

Penalty Phase

Appellant insisted on represented himself at the conclusion of the guilt phase. The state presented documentary evidence relating to appellant's nine prior violent felony convictions. (XXVIII 1817-24; State's Exhibits 4,5,8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14). The state also provided documentary evidence that Huggins was apparently on probation at the time of Larson's murder. (XXVIII 1820-21; State's Exhibit 7)

The state presented three victim impact witnesses, Carla's mother, husband, and her best friend. (XXVIII 1824-41) All of them told the jury that Carla Larson was a wonderful, Christian girl who was raised in a home where strong morals and ethics abound. She married Jim, her first true love. Carla was truly like a sister to her best friend Christie Lovell. Lovell could only imagine all the good that Carla

would be doing if she were still alive today. Carla's daughter, Jessica, would now have to grow up without the pleasure and security of knowing her mother's loving arms. (XXVIII 1829)

Phyllis Thomas, Carla's mother, told the jury how proud she was of Carla. Carla was special to everyone she touched. Carla's parents were truly proud of all of her scholastic and personal accomplishments. Carla's daughter was only one year old when Carla was murdered. Jessica, the very picture of her mother, reminded Phyllis so much of Carla as a child. Carla's murder made her parents' lives a "living nightmare." (XXVIII 1830-34) Carla was a wonderful wife, mother, friend, and worker. Jim wishes that he had more videotape of Carla now that she is gone. (XXVIII 834-41)

Appellant presented the testimony of only one witness, Sandra Huggins, his sister. (XXVIII 1843-50) The trial court took judicial notice of the mitigation evidence presented by the defense in the prior penalty proceeding in Jacksonville.¹⁸ (SRA X 1706-1810; XI 1811-55) Additionally, the trial court considered a presentence investigation report. (XV 1182-84)

John Huggins' parents were divorced when he was eight years old. John

¹⁸ Of course, Huggins' "sentencing" jury never heard this wealth of evidence and did not have benefit of the PSI either.

went to live with his father who was a strong disciplinarian and a heavy drinker. John had a very poor relationship with his stepmother, who detested him and wanted him out of the house. John was abused as a child by his father. (XV 1182)

John Huggins was involved in the church¹⁹ and did missionary work.

Reverend Arlene Colter, a pastor from Melbourne, met John in May of 1989 when he helped her baptize some people. Although Huggins was quite young and of limited means, he helped at the ministry by bringing food, clothing, and equipment. Additionally, Huggins undertook extremely difficult missionary work in Haiti where he lived in severe conditions. He worked in medical clinics treating children, work that some volunteers simply could not stomach. At a point in his life, John struggled with drugs, alcohol, and women. Additionally, he lost one wife in a car accident. This caused him great grief. Since his incarceration, Huggins had ministered to fellow prisoners.

The trial court found numerous mitigating factors.²⁰ Huggins has a positive attitude towards African-Americans which was demonstrated by his missionary

¹⁹ Huggins actually helped found a church in Oviedo.

²⁰ The trial court rejected proposed mitigation including: (1) there was no sexual attack on the victim; (2) there was no weapon used during the crime; (3) John was sentenced to an adult male prison when he was only fifteen years old; (4) Huggins waived extradition to face these Florida charges; (5) Huggins did not obstruct justice and he facilitated in his trial proceedings. (XV 1184-87)

work in Haiti. He can provide spiritual support in the prison community. As a child, John was hit and abused by his father. He witnessed acts of violence by his father upon his mother. His parents divorced while John was a boy, and he was separated from other family members. Despite all this, John Huggins became a caring parent and a loving stepfather. He is the sole surviving parent of his two children. He was an active participant in religious functions. He contributed his inheritance as well as two cars to the church. John was active in the “Love a Child” ministry in Florida. He served sick children as well as the poor in Haiti. He served the homeless through his contributions as well as his labor. Finally, the trial court found that John Huggins demonstrated good conduct during the trial proceedings.

(XV 1184-87)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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