IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN STEVEN HUGGINS,
Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-2364

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

-----/

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(Vol.19-R182-3). The trial court correctly noted that the fee paid to jurors was not within his control, and, moreover, properly refused to financially damage juror Coley by forcing him to serve on the jury. The trial court did not abuse its discretion, and this frivolous issue does not provide a basis for relief. *Wright v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S518 (Fla. July 3, 2003).

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, the foundation of the *Batson-Neil-Slappy* line of cases is the right of the individual juror to serve, **not**, as Huggins apparently believes, the right to have a particular juror sit on a particular case. *J.E.B. ex rel. T.B. v. Alabama*, 114 S.Ct. 1419 (1994); *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400 (1991); *Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co.*, 500 U.S. 614 (1991); *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). Under these facts, it is the height of irony for Huggins to argue that he is entitled to a new trial because the trial court granted a challenge for cause and did not compel a juror to serve after the issue was discussed at length with the juror, who contacted his employer to determine the adverse financial impact that jury service would have on him, and who had made it clear that he would prefer not to serve. (Vol.19-R198-9). That "strategy" amounts to an offensive use of *Batson-Neil-Slappy* for no purpose other than

appellate reversal when the factual circumstances between those cases and this one bear no similarity whatsoever. Juror Coley's rights were not violated, and it is inhumane to suggest, as Huggins did at trial and as he does now, that jury service should have been forced on that individual despite the financial hardship that it would have caused for him. That argument is spurious, does not implicate any constitutional right accruing to Huggins, and should be rejected out of hand.¹⁷

IV. THE "REVERSE-WILLIAMS RULE" CLAIM

On pages 49-53 of his brief, Huggins argues that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding what Huggins describes as "evidence [that] was simply relevant evidence that the defense had a right to present to the jury in order to establish reasonable doubt." *Initial Brief*, at 49. As Huggins points out, trial counsel did not concede that this is "similar fact" evidence (*ie.*: reverse *Williams* rule evidence), and, given that Huggins never sought admission of the evidence under that theory, it makes little sense to argue for reversal on appeal

¹⁷To the extent that Huggins argues, on page 48 of his brief, that his "similar" cause challenge to juror Napier was rejected, Huggins admits that the problems that would result from juror Napier's service on the jury would fall on his **employer**, not directly on the juror. Attempting to equate the effect on juror Napier's employer with the effect on juror Coley's ability to pay rent, utilities and groceries is, quite simply, ridiculous. The two jurors cannot be rationally compared.

based upon a theory that was expressly repudiated at the time of trial.¹⁸ Regardless of whether the evidence is viewed as reverse *Williams* rule evidence, or merely as "evidence that the defense had a right to present," the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying admission of the evidence at issue.

In granting the state's motion *in limine* to bar presentation of the "Calvin Rewis" evidence, the trial court made the following findings:

The basic law here in the State of Florida is that where there is the issue of relevancy of a past act, to identify the perpetrator of a crime as being tried you must have a close similarity of facts, or a unique fingerprint involving that particular case for the evidence to be relevant. The defense intends to introduce evidence of a homicide that was committed in Duval County. I believe the defendant in that case was Mr. Calvin -- what's his last name, Mr. Wesley?

Mr. Wesley: Rewis, R-E-W-I-S.

The Court: Mr. Rewis. When you compare the two murders, the victim in the Rewis case, the victim was a man. In this particular case, the victim is a woman. In that case, the defendant and the victim in the Rewis case had a prior relationship. That is, they knew each other, in this case, the Larson case, there is no evidence whatsoever that the defendant or the victim knew each other, in the Rewis case, the victim was found clothed, and wrapped. In the Larson case, the victim was found nude. In the Rewis case, the victim died as a result of blunt force trauma. In this particular case, the victim died as a result of strangulation, asphyxiation. In the Rewis case, the victim was killed in his home. In this particular

¹⁸At trial, counsel stated that this evidence was offered "under three recognized areas of 404." (Vol.8-R298).

case, the evidence is that Ms. Larson was kidnapped and killed outside of her home. Either in a wooded area, or inside of her car. Thus, this evidence is not unique, nor are there similar factors. Nor is there any evidence pointing to the similarity of these two crimes that show that Mr. Rewis in the murderer of Carla Larson. Therefore, the State's motion *in limine* will be granted, prohibiting any evidence of that particular homicide.

(Vol.19-R21-22). That result is not an abuse of discretion because the evidence Huggins propounded did not meet the standard for the admission of similar fact evidence:

The test for admissibility of similar-fact evidence is relevancy. *Williams v. State*, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 361 U.S. 847, 80 S.Ct. 102, 4 L.Ed.2d 86 (1959). When the purported relevancy of past crimes is to identify the perpetrator of the crime being tried, we have required a close similarity of facts, a unique or "fingerprint" type of information, for the evidence to be relevant. *Drake v. State*, 400 So. 2d 1217 (Fla.1981); *State v. Maisto*, 427 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); *Sias v. State*, 416 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 3d DCA), *review denied*, 424 So. 2d 763 (Fla.1982). **If a defendant's purpose is to shift suspicion from himself to another person, evidence of past criminal conduct of that other person should be of such nature that it would be admissible if that person were on trial for the present offense.** Evidence of bad character or propensity to commit a crime by another would not be admitted; such evidence should benefit a criminal defendant no more than it should benefit the state. Relevance and weighing the probative value of the evidence against the possible prejudicial effect are the determinative factors governing the admissibility of similar- fact evidence of other crimes when offered by the state. These same factors should apply when the defendant offers such evidence.

The district court suggests that the similarity of conduct should be less when a defendant seeks to introduce *Williams* rule evidence because there is a

lessened chance of prejudice. Section 90.402, *Florida Statutes* (1987), provides that all relevant evidence is admissible except as provided by law. Section 90.403, *Florida Statutes* (1987), however, provides that relevant evidence is inadmissible when outweighed by prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury, or presenting of cumulative evidence. One does not reach prejudice until relevancy is established; to be relevant similar- fact evidence of other crimes must be of such nature that it would tend to prove a material fact in issue. Thus, we disagree that the degree of similarity for such crimes to be relevant should be modified when identity is sought to be proved, even though it is less likely that prejudice would occur when evidence of other crimes is sought to be introduced by a defendant. Only after the relevance requirement is satisfied is prejudice or confusion determined.

State v. Savino, 567 So. 2d 892, 894 (Fla. 1990). [emphasis added]. Applying the standard set out above, there is no abuse of discretion -- if Rewis were on trial for the murder of Carla Larson, evidence of the Duval County homicide would not be admissible against him because the two murders are wholly dissimilar, as the Circuit Court found. Huggins has not shown an abuse of discretion by the trial court, and this claim is not a basis for relief.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, the evidence at issue is not relevant to the murder of Carla Larson. In upholding the admission of similar fact evidence in *Conde v. State*, this Court stated:

As the first step of our analysis, we conclude that the collateral crimes evidence established the fact that Conde had committed substantially similar crimes on five prior occasions, which in turn was relevant to

numerous material issues, such as identity, intent, and premeditation. See, e.g., *Bradley v. State*, 787 So.2d 732, 741-42 (Fla.2001) (*Williams* rule evidence of prior crime relevant to proving intent and premeditation); *Townsend v. State*, 420 So.2d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (admission of *Williams* rule evidence upheld where defendant was on trial for strangulation of two prostitutes and State introduced six other murders as relevant to identity and motive). Although Conde argues that identity and intent were largely uncontested issues, we note that premeditation, defined as a "fully formed conscious purpose to kill," was the single most contested issue at trial and that the pattern of these crimes, together with the message Conde wrote on the back of his third victim indicating that she was the "third" and "[see] if you can catch me," was evidence of premeditated intent to kill. This evidence was clearly relevant given Conde's theory of defense that he killed in an "instantaneous combustion" of unexpected and unplanned emotions. See *Wuornos v. State*, 644 So.2d 1000, 1006 (Fla.1994) (finding evidence of six prior murders relevant to premeditation where accused's testimony portrayed her as the actual victim). Additionally, we note that even if lack of premeditation was the primary focus of Conde's defense, the State also had the burden of proving the material issues of identity and intent. Therefore, any evidence tending to prove those issues was relevant.

Conde v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S669, 673(Fla. Sept.4, 2003); see also, *Gore v. State*, 784 So. 2d 418, 431 (Fla. 2001). The Rewis evidence does not meet that standard (and would be inadmissible if Rewis were the defendant here), and was properly excluded because it was not relevant.

Finally, to the extent that Huggins' claim is based on some legal theory other than reverse *Williams* Rule, he has completely failed to establish the relevancy of the "evidence" at issue

beyond his own speculation. It is true that *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284 (1973), does not allow application of technical evidentiary rules to preclude the presentation of a defense, *Chambers* did not abrogate the requirement that evidence be relevant, material, and competent. While Huggins has attempted to describe the Rewis evidence as something other than similar fact evidence, that attempt to escape from the admissibility standards applicable to reverse *Williams* Rule evidence fails -- no matter how Huggins chooses to describe the Rewis evidence, it is subject to the *Williams* Rule standard, and Huggins has not met it.¹⁹ There is no basis for relief, and the conviction and sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

V. THE PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE CLAIM

On pages 54-65 of his brief, Huggins complains about the admission of photographs of his victim, about testimony from the medical examiner concerning death by strangulation, and about "victim impact evidence." The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting any of this evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects. *See, Ray, supra; Zack, supra; Cole, supra.*

¹⁹Strangely enough, Huggins describes the Rewis evidence as "reverse *Williams* rule evidence" in another part of his brief. *Initial Brief*, at 56.

The crime scene photographs.

This Court has stated the standard for evaluating the admission of photographs of murder victims in the following way:

The admission of photographic evidence of a murder victim is within the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent abuse. See *Gudinas v. State*, 693 So. 2d 953, 963 (Fla.1997). "While a trial court should exercise caution in admitting particularly gruesome photographs, and in limiting their numbers, such photographs may still be relevant." *Larkins v. State*, 655 So.2d 95, 98 (Fla.1995). This Court has upheld the admission of photographs where such photographs were relevant to "explain a medical examiner's testimony, to show the manner of death, the location of wounds, and the identity of the victim." *Id.* at 98.

Bruno v. Moore, 838 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, 124 S.Ct. 100 (2003); *Marquard v. State*, 850 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 2002) ("We have consistently upheld the admission of allegedly gruesome photographs where they were independently relevant or corroborative of other evidence."); *Chavez v. State*, 832 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, 123 S.Ct. 2617 (2003) ("As stated by the Court in *Henderson v. State*, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985), '[t]hose whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments.'"); *Carroll v. State*, 815 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 2002) ("This Court has upheld the admissibility of photographs where they are relevant to explain a medical examiner's testimony, to show the manner of death, the location of wounds,

and the identity of the victim." [citations and internal quotations omitted]); *Rutherford v. Moore*, 774 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 2000).

During the trial of this case, the parties relied on the prior proceedings in this case with respect to the admission of the photographs. (Vol.24-R1139).²⁰ The medical examiner testified that the photographs showing decomposition of Carla Larson's body, and the effects of insect and animal activity on her body (including her face) were relevant to establishing the time of death, which, of course, is significant given that a period of time passed between Carla's disappearance and the time that her body was found. (SR 732; 733; 734; 735; 736-39). Likewise, the photograph of the victim's vaginal area suggests the possibility of pre-mortem injury, as well as demonstrating the decomposition of the victim's body. (SR739). The victim's left hand showed possible traumatic injury, while the right hand did not. (SR744-45). Likewise, the photographs of the victim's neck were relevant to show the effects of Huggins strangling her to death. (SR741-43). And, the photographs were relevant to demonstrate for the jury why the medical examiner could not determine the presence of petechial hemorrhages or definitively state that

²⁰The pertinent portion of the record from the first trial begins on R729 thereof, and is found in Supplemental Record Volume 5.

defensive wounds were present on the victim's hands, both being matters that were suggested by Huggins on cross-examination. (Vol.24-R1165-67). The photographs, however distasteful they may be, were relevant to the issues before the jury, were necessary to fairly and accurately explain the medical examiner's testimony, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting them. *Davis v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S692 (Fla. Sep. 11, 2003); *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So. 2d 636, 648 (Fla. 2000); *Gudinas v. State*, 693 So. 2d 953, 963 (Fla. 1997)(Test for admissibility is relevance, not necessity). There is no basis for reversal.²¹

The "testimony regarding strangulation."

On pages 60-62 of his brief, Huggins complains that the medical examiner was allowed to testify about the effects of strangulation on a victim murdered in that fashion. As this Court has recognized, "[b]ecause strangulation of a conscious victim involves foreknowledge and the extreme anxiety of impending death, death by strangulation constitutes prima facie evidence of HAC. See *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So. 2d 636, 645 (Fla. 2000); *Orme v. State*, 677 So. 2d 258, 263 (Fla. 1996)." *Barnhill v. State*, 834 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 2002). However, unless

²¹While not conceding any error, if there was error, it was harmless. *Hertz v. State*, 803 So. 2d 629, 642-43 (Fla. 2001).

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